
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held Virtually on Wednesday, 30 September 2020 at 7.00 pm when the business 
specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can 
attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


categories, made for reasons of transparency.

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

a) 20200604 - Garage Blocks, Arnold Avenue, Meopham, Gravesend 
DA13 0NU - Application for the demolition of existing lock up 
garages and the erection of 1no. one bedroom wheelchair 
accessible and adaptable chalet bungalow with associated parking 
- report herewith

(Pages 9 - 28)

b) 20200670 - 135 Sun Lane, Gravesend, Kent DA12 5HW - 
Application for the demolition of a garage, erection of a single 
storey rear extension, construction of dormer extensions in the front 
and rear roof slopes with alterations to the roof and conversion of 
the roof space into habitable rooms - report herewith

(Pages 29 - 43)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Steve Thompson

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 2 September 2020 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Steve Thompson

Note: Councillors:  John Burden and Jenny Wallace were also in attendance

Laura Caiels Lawyer (Place)(Medway Council)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development)
Mark Lees Regulatory Services Manager
Richard Hart Principal Planner (Major Sites)
Mandy Francis Licensing Manager
Clive Boorman Technical Services Support Officer
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

13. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received.

14. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 22 July 2020 were signed  by 
the Chair.

15. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Harold Craske made a voluntary announcement of an other interest in respect of the 
objecting speaker for application reference 20200583, Mrs Robert. He confirmed that he and 
Mrs Roberts had not had any conversations in relation to this application. He noted that after 
14 years service as a Councillor he had met a great many people but this had never 
compromised his decision making. Following a question from the Lawyer (Place), Cllr 
Craske confirmed that he never pre-determined this or any other planning applications.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 2.09.2020

2

16. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

16.1 20200583 - Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 2 four 
bedroom dwellings with parking spaces to front, 61 Lennox Road, 
Gravesend, DA11 0EL 

The Board considered an application reference 20200583 which proposed the demolition of 
the existing dwelling and the erection of 2 four bedroom dwellings with two parking spaces 
per dwelling to the front.

The Principal Planner (Major Sites) explained that the application site, which currently has 
a detached bungalow with a rear garden and parking to the front, was located on the 
eastern side of Lennox Road with the railway line to the south of the site. This part of 
Lennox Road contains a mixture of type and design of dwellings. However, in the main, 
the dwellings were two storey terraces. The road is a well used highway by both 
pedestrians and vehicles. The site has mature soft planting to the front of the property 
which limits the visibility splays, and this combined with the siting on the inside curve of 
the road resulted in a highway safety concern being raised by neighbours. It was noted 
there was an existing in and out driveway serving the existing dwelling.
The proposal for two detached two storey dwellings and was not out of character with the 
area and it was considered that the dwellings would have no significant detrimental impact 
on any neighbouring properties due to the orientation and design of the proposed dwellings. 
The proposals were not considered to increase traffic movements onto Lennox Road 
significantly and met adopted parking standards. There was likely to be some biodiversity 
along the railway bank and therefore a landscaping plan showing suitable habitats for these 
creatures was recommended as a condition. The development proposal was considered to 
be compliant with the relevant policies in the Council’s adopted Core Strategy, the relevant 
saved policies contained in the First Review and accords with national policy and guidance.

The Committee was advised that one late comment have been received which stated “It’s 
very important to us that during construction that they do not block access to our driveway 
and keep the area clean.  We request they do not want reverse out their vehicles in our 
driveway.”.  The officer noted that the issues raised were civil issues and were not material 
planning considerations.
Members noted that a number of windows in the first floor of the proposed dwelling nearest 
the neighbouring properties would be obscure glazed to ensure the privacy of future 
occupiers was protected and there would no overlooking onto surrounding properties. The 
impact the adjacent property had been considered and the officer had concluded that there 
would be no adverse impact on the amenity of the property at 59 Lennox Road. In addition, 
there was a tall tree and shed in the garden of 59 Lennox Road which already impacted on 
the outlook from this dwelling. The dwelling at plot 1 which protruded beyond the rear 
elevation of 59 Lennox Road was single storey to reduce any impact on the existing/future 
occupiers of this dwelling. Furthermore, to protect the amenity of 59 Lennox Road and future 
occupiers a condition was recommended that Permitted Development rights for any 
additional opening/windows on the flank elevations be removed.
With regard to highway safety Members were advised that no County or Borough highway 
objection had been raised. It was noted that the site was on the inside radius of the curve 
and the existing dwelling had ‘in and out’ driveway. The soft landscaping as existing resulted 
in limited visibility splays which was a highway hazard. The officer suggested appropriate 

Page 4



Planning Committee 2.09.2020

3

conditions be used to ensure that soft landscaping within the visibility splays was low level 
and boundary walls did not exceed 0.6 metres in height. 
The officer highlighted that the application site had existing extensive soft landscaping and it 
was suggested that, where possible, as much soft landscaping should be retained through a 
planning condition. The agent has agreed to discuss this proposal.
In conclusion, the officer stated that as the application was policy compliant and 
recommended that permission be granted, subject to the imposition of conditions as set out 
in the report.

The Committee heard the views of the public speakers in support of and objecting to this 
application who answered questions from Members.

The Committee heard the views of the Ward Member, Cllr Jenny Wallace.

The following points were raised during discussion on this application:

 Following a concern raised over the late comment received, the officer confirmed that 
this could be conditioned by a Code of Construction.

 Following a point raised on retention of the biodiversity, Members’ attention was 
drawn to Condition 2 contained in the report. However, for the avoidance of doubt, 
the officer would seek to retain the existing trees and plants to the rear of the 
application site.

 The Principal Planner (Major Sites) clarified that under Permitted Development 
Rights a property, not previously extended, could single storey extend 8 metres 
under prior approval and could extend 3 metres under Permitted Development 
Rights. He also noted that the light to the ground floor windows of 59 Lennox Road 
was already impacted by a rear conservatory, a shed and a large tree in the garden 
of number 59 Lennox Road.

 A Member noted that planting restrictions in private gardens would be difficult to 
police and owners of properties should be allowed the discretion to plant what they 
wanted in their own gardens.

 Concerns were raised in relation to a mast close to the application site and whether 
the proposed two storey dwelling would be affected by any waves emitted by the 
mast. The Committee was advised that the mast was sited on railway owned land 
and since there was a house already on the site it was difficult for him to comment.

 A number of Members expressed concern about the high usage of the road by 
vehicles and pedestrians and that it was used as a cut through to the town centre. 
The high volume of traffic, the loss of the in-out drive and its replacement with two 
driveways, and the siting on a low-visibility bend was considered to be a risk 
especially if future occupiers chose to reverse onto the road. It was noted that the 
Kent County Council was the highway authority and had not expressed any concerns 
about the effect on highway safety of the proposals.

 The Committee was advised by the speaker in objection to the proposal that the light 
to the dining room and downstairs toilet of no. 59 Lennox Road would be greatly 
reduced by the bulk of the proposed two storey dwelling and that the dining room 
was linked to the kitchen both of which were high usage areas. The officer advised 
that the two storey element of the neighbouring dwelling was in line with no. 59 
Lennox Road and only the single storey element protruded past the line. Members 
were also advised that under the 1996 Residential Layout Guidance the dining room 
and kitchen were not classed as habitable rooms. Members were asked to also bear 
in mind what was on the site at the present time.

Page 5



Planning Committee 2.09.2020

4

 The Ward Councillor highlighted the loss of light to the ground floor of 59 Lennox 
Road and asked that a Site Visit be considered. The Chair noted that the removal of 
the shed and/or tree would allow more light into the house.

 Members were informed that an application for a two storey dwelling on the site had 
been approved in 2015 which had since expired. This application had been approved 
under the same Core Strategy and National Planning Policy Framework as this 
application.

 Following a comment on the possibility of moving the proposed dwellings a little 
further forward on the sites or having an angled roofline, the Chair reminded 
Members that the Committee must only consider the submitted proposal and asked 
them to bear the previously permitted application in mind.

 It was noted that planting on the fence line alongside the single storey element would 
improve the amenity of 59 Lennox Road and that the trees and shrubs on the railway 
land provided a good level of wildlife habitat.

Having listened to the Committee’s comments and concerns the Principal Planner (Major 
Sites) suggested:

 The inclusion of the Code of Construction which could control the hours during which 
construction etc could take place, wheel washing and use of private drives for 
construction vehicles.

 The inclusion of a condition in relation to soft landscaping following consultation with 
neighbours.

 The removal of all Permitted Development Rights for the two proposed dwellings.
 The front retaining wall and soft landscaping to be limited to 0.6 metres in height.
 Condition 3 could be split into two – hard and soft landscaping.
 The inclusion of that there be no further windows in flank walls.
 A further informative on with regard to the telecommunications mast including the 

noise made by the mast.

Resolved that application 20200001 be PERMITTED subject to conditions as set 
out in the officer’s report with amendments as discussed by the Committee 
relating to hard and soft landscaping and informative in relation to the 
discharge of this condition with regard to consultation with neighbours, a 
condition on a Code of Construction and a further informative on with regard to 
the telecommunications mast include the noise made by the mast.

Note: (a) Mr Gurminder Sanghera (Applicant)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(b) Mr Brian Sangha (a resident)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(c) Mrs Brenda Roberts (a neighbour)(an objector) addressed the Committee.
(d) Cllr Jenny Wallace spoke with the leave of the Chair.

17. Reports For Information/Decision 

17.1 Pavement Licences - Business and Planning Act 2020 

The Regulatory Services Manager presented the report which provided an update on the 
provisions of the Business and Planning Act 2020 relating to pavement licences and 
associated off-sales of alcohol. The officer presented an amended recommendation for 
consideration as follows:

Page 6



Planning Committee 2.09.2020

5

It was recommended that authority be delegated to the Director (Communities) to 
exercise the Council’s functions and powers in relation to pavement licences under 
the Business and Planning Act 2020 or any legislation replacing or amending the 
same or any regulations made thereunder.

The officer noted that the regime would be managed by the Licensing Team. The 
Government had introduced the Bill as part of measures to promote economic growth in the 
hospitality sector following the pandemic. The effect of the legislation was to fast-track the 
process until September 2021 when it would return to being the responsibility of the County 
Council as it was previously.

The Committee’s attention was drawn to a slight associated amendment to the Licensing Act 
2003 to allow premises with a licence authorising ‘on-sales’ only (sales of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises) to automatically have ‘off-sales’ added to their licence.

In conclusion, the Regulatory Services Manager advised that the report was in accordance 
with the Council’s Constitution and therefore the Planning Committee was asked to make 
this decision.

The following points were made during discussion on this subject:

 Following a question on the number of premises with purely ‘on-sales’ licences in the 
Borough, the Committee was informed that there were approximately 350 premises 
in the Borough of which approximately 60 were purely ‘on-sales’.

 The issue of natural justice was raised with regard to the Director (Communities) 
being delegated the authority to make the decision on whether to grant or refuse 
licensing applications and to decide on appeals against refusal. The officer reported 
that discussions had been had with the management team of the Council and the 
Leader of the Council who had agreed the recommendation.

 The Leader of the Council confirmed that the roles of officers had been chosen by 
the Chief Executive and appeals would be heard by senior managers who would 
ensure that they would always be correctly and fairly heard. Should an applicant not 
be happy with the decision of the appeal process then further recourse could be had 
via the Local Government Ombudsman. Council officers had been previously proven 
to be fair and reasonable and the Leader confirmed that he was happy with the 
arrangements. 

 The Committee was advised that a last minute amendment to the Bill was passed in 
the House of Lords to provide for the pavement licensing functions not to be 
executive functions.  This amendment meant that pavement licence functions must 
be discharged by the authority, i.e. the council, rather than by the authority’s 
executive, and that as the discharge of such licensing functions have been delegated 
to the Planning Committee by Full Council, it was for Planning Committee to make 
the decisions about onward delegation. .A question was raised on the fact that it was 
incumbent on the applicant to post a consultation notice in the window of the 
premises and whether this could be open to abuse. Members were informed that this 
was a standard feature in other licensing regimes and was set in legislation. To assist 
applicants an informative webpage had been created on the Council’s website 
together with an online application form. The use of the form created a poster which 
was automatically emailed to the applicant containing the correct information in the 
requisite format. Officers from the Licensing Team undertook spot checks to ensure 
that posters are correctly displayed.

Page 7



Planning Committee 2.09.2020

6

Resolved that  authority be delegated to the Director (Communities) to exercise 
the Council’s functions and powers in relation to pavement licences under the 
Business and Planning Act 2020 or any legislation replacing or amending the 
same or any regulations made thereunder.

18. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Planning & Development) 
under delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.22 pm

Page 8



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT

Application Ref: 20200604

Site Address: Garage Blocks Arnold Avenue Meopham Gravesend DA13 0NU

Application 
Description:

Demolition of existing lock up garages and the erection of 1no. one 
bedroom wheelchair accessible and adaptable chalet bungalow with 
associated parking.  

Applicant: N Goodbody, Gravesham Borough Council

Agent: Miss Charlie Buckley, Architects Plus Ltd

Ward: Meopham North

Parish: Meopham

Decision due date: 15 September 2020 (Extension of Time - 14 October 2020)

Publicity expiry date: 14 August 2020

Decision Level: Planning Committee - Wednesday 30th September 2020

Reason for referral: Gravesham Borough Council is the applicant

Recommendation: PERMISSION subject to conditions 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

The proposal is for the demolition of existing lock up garages and the erection of 1no. one bedroom 
wheelchair accessible and adaptable chalet bungalow with associated parking. 

The design is considered to be acceptable and the proposal will not have a material adverse impact 
on the amenity of surrounding properties as the dwelling would be single storey and there is no 
conflict with local or national planning policy.

There will be no adverse impact on the surrounding highway network and all consultee and 
neighbour concerns have been considered and where possible addressed.

As the development would deliver good quality specialist additional housing onto an underused 
brownfield site, without any significant harmful impacts on the surrounding properties, it is deemed 
to comply with local and national planning policy and subject to the planning conditions as set out 
in this report permission is recommended.

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 The application site comprises two blocks of lock up garages (8 in total) together with 
the concrete and tarmac access road and turning area that currently serves the garages 
located at the rear of 19 and 20 Arnold Avenue within the rural settlement of Meopham. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5a



The application site also includes a small corner of the rear garden of 20 Arnold 
Avenue.  Only two of the garages are in use, the others are in disrepair.

1.2 The application site has an area of 401m².  Numbers 20 and 21 Arnold Avenue are in 
Council ownership but no 19 is in private ownership (see red line plan below).

1.3 Arnold Avenue is a cul-de-sac with no throughway with access from Whitehill Road. 

1.4 Surrounding the site is a mixture of single storey and two storey semi-detached 
dwellings, the majority of which have off road parking.  On street parking is also 
available.

2 Relevant Planning History

2.1 Since the construction of the garage blocks that date from planning permissions given in 
1962 and 1963 there is no relevant planning history. 

2.2 The dwellings in Arnold Avenue were built as municipal housing in the late 1940’s.

3 Proposal

3.1 The proposal is to erect a 1no. one bedroom wheelchair accessible and adaptable chalet 
bungalow with associated parking on the site of existing lock-up garages in Arnold Avenue, 
Meopham.  The proposed dwelling has a depth of 11.16m, width of 7.74m (at its widest) 
and a height of 5.9m from slab to ridge level (at its highest).

3.2 At ground floor the proposed dwelling has an entrance hall, open-plan living room/kitchen 
area, separate bedroom and a wet room. Within the roofspace would be a mezzanine and 
storage area.

Page 10



4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are other material considerations, the 
development plan should be the starting point, and other material considerations should 
be taken into account in reaching a decision.  One such consideration will be whether 
the plan policies are relevant and up to date.

4.2 The Development Plan for Gravesham comprises:-

• The Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
• Remaining Saved Policies of the Local Plan First Review (1994)
• Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 (July 2016)

Local Planning Guidance

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014

4.3 The Core Strategy sets out the Council's spatial vision and strategic objectives for the 
Borough to 2028 and the policies which will deliver them. It identifies the main areas 
where major change is likely to take place and allocates sites which are key to 
achieving the strategy.

4.4 The development site is shown as being within a rural settlement inset from the Green 
Belt in the Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map.  

4.5 The most relevant policies from the adopted Core Strategy in relation to this 
development are as follows:

 CS01 – Sustainable Development 
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS14 – Housing Type and Size
 CS15 – Housing Density
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles

Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994

4.6 The Gravesham Local Plan First Review was originally adopted in November 1994.

4.7 A substantial number of policies of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review were saved 
by a Direction dated 25 September 2007 of the Secretary of State under paragraph 1 
(3) of Schedule 8 to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as transitional 
arrangements pending adoption of the Core Strategy.

4.8 Those Local Plan First Review policies that remain in force are listed in Appendix 1 of 
the Local Plan Core Strategy.  The remaining saved policies will be replaced following 
the adoption of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document.

Page 11



4.9 The following remaining saved policies are relevant to the consideration of this 
application:

• Policy P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• Policy T1 – Impact of development on the Highway Network

Review of Local Plan 

4.10 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2019) sets out those policies within adopted local plans should 
be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and 
should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set 
out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012.

4.11 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and The review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02 due 
to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the 
need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved policies from 
the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) general conform with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019), the Council will also seek to replace these.

Other Material Considerations 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.12 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), June 2019, is a material consideration. 
The following sections are relevant.

 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 4 – Decision-making
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
• Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

4.13 Planning Practice Guidance (http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/) supports and 
clarifies areas in the NPPF.

Supplementary Planning Guidance and other Documents
     
4.14 The Council has adopted a number of Supplementary Planning Guidance documents, 

Development Briefs and Conservation Area Appraisals.  These elaborate on saved policies 
in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review and policies in the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy and are material considerations in determining planning applications.  

4.15 In addition the Council has adopted a number of documents that have been produced by 
Kent County Council also as Supplementary Guidance.

4.16 The following documents are relevant to the consideration of this application:

Page 12

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/


• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015; and
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards (2015).

5. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Consultations

5.1 The following consultations responses have been received

Internal 

GBC Highways Development Management Officer    

A single one bedroom dwelling will generate less traffic than 8 occupied garages although 
it is noted that most of the garages are not currently occupied. The future of the garages 
must also be questioned with the shift to electric vehicles. I therefore have no objections.

However, I would suggest that the property should have the benefit of an electric vehicle 
charging point and both the Fire Service should be consulted regarding access and the 
refuse department consulted on the matter of the carry distance for collections, as the 
access is longer than the maximum carry distance and expecting a disabled person to 
move the bins on collection day may not be a viable option.  

GBC Waste Manager

Confirms that the refuse collection scenario is acceptable 

GBC Regulatory Services

Contamination

The extended use of this site for garaging purposes may have caused contamination of the 
underlying soils. Therefore recommends the standard contamination condition.

If officers are not minded to apply the above condition, please apply the watching Brief 
condition shown below:

The applicant shall undertake a watching brief during construction in case any 
contamination issue is encountered.  If during development any contamination is found, the 
local planning authority should be informed as soon as practical and the work shall not 
continue until written agreement is provided by the LPA as to the appropriate measures to 
be taken to resolve the matter and they are satisfied that those measures have been 
carried out.

Drainage/sewerage

The existing system in place for the drainage/processing and removal of foul sewage is not 
known.  Therefore advises of the following:

Page 13



The foul sewage shall be removed by means of the mains drainage system and not by the 
use of non-mains sewerage systems, unless connection to the drainage system is not 
reasonably practicable.  If foul sewage is to be removed using non-mains sewerage 
systems, a sewage treatment plant or septic tank system will be considered in preference 
to a cesspool.  Such a system may require the prior consent of the Environment Agency 
under the terms of the Water Resources Act 1991.  Applicants are therefore advised to 
discuss their requirements with the Environment Agency at the earliest opportunity.  It 
should be ensured that the septic tank or cesspool is of adequate capacity to serve the 
proposed development and suitable access and hardstanding area shall be maintained to it 
on site.  

Electric Vehicle Charging Point(s)

This Service would wish to see the inclusion of suitable electric vehicle charging facilities at 
the proposed dwellings in support of the Council’s commitment to become carbon neutral 
by 2030.

Code of Practice on Construction and Demolition

Please apply the Council’s Code of Practice

External

KCC Highways and Transportation

No objections.  Requests standard highway informative

Meopham Parish Council 

No objection.  

Meopham Parish Council would hope that this proposed new wheelchair adapted 
bungalow will be allocated to a local resident to enable them to downsize and/or live in 
more suitable accommodation without having to leave the area and their support 
networks.

Publicity and Representations

5.2 This application was advertised with a site notice and letters were sent to 10 
surrounding properties. Two representations were received both objecting to the 
development and the following is a summary of the main comments and concerns: 

 The Design and Access Statement states that the property would be smaller in scale 
than the surrounding streetscape and thus will be subservient to the existing 
adjacent houses.  This is incorrect, the property is higher than (or at least as high 
as) the 3 most adjacent properties.  If the height was restricted to that of the 
bedroom area throughout, the impact would be reduced.

 Would appreciate confirmation that the boundary between the site and the 
neighbouring property at the rear belongs to the Council.

 The building line is less than a metre from a neighbouring garden, which is 
excessively intrusive.

Page 14



 If the boundary is the Council’s there should be a requirement for a well maintained 
fence.

 Whilst this is a very good use of space, it would be more agreeable if this property 
had a flat roof design; neighbouring properties have already been impacted by 
development opposite in Whitehill Road

6. Planning Analysis and Development Manager Comments

Principle of the Development

6.1 Policy CS02 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively 
assessed need for housing over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that 
there is a need for at least 6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence now 
available shows that the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply. 
This engages the first part of footnote 7 of the NPPF and this means for decision-taking 
that planning permission for applications involving the provision of housing should 
granted in line with the requirements of the NPPF Para 11(d) unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed. 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken.

6.2 The proposed development for a net increase of ‘1’ dwelling would offer a minimal 
contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, officers considers that 
this should be accorded minimal weight in support of the application. However, this has 
to be balanced against other requirements of the NPPF which requires development to 
add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local 
character and create acceptable amenity for future occupiers. 

6.3 The application site is located within the Meopham Downs landscape character area 
and is located within a rural settlement inset from the Green Belt.  Policy CS02 (LPCS) 
states that development will be supported within rural settlements that are inset from the 
Green Belt as defined on the policies map.  As the site is within a rural settlement that is 
inset from the Green Belt, the proposed development would accord with Policy CS02 
(LPCS). 

6.4 The NPPF is explicit that planning policies and decisions should promote an effective 
use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses. Paragraph 119 advises that 
local planning authorities should take a proactive role in identifying and helping to bring 
forward land that may be suitable for meeting development needs, including suitable 
sites on brownfield registers or held in public ownership, using the full range of powers 
available to them. Where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting 
identified housing needs, as is currently the case the local authority is seeking to make 
optimal use of this site through residential development.

6.5 The application site meets the definition of previously developed land as the application 
site is an existing lock-up garage site within the rural area. As such, the application 
meets the requirement of Section 11 of the NPPF as the Local Authority is bringing 
forward underused land for residential development.

Page 15



6.6 Of the 8 garages on this site only 2 are let by the Council and the site has attracted a 
high level of anti-social behaviour issues which has affected the neighbouring 
properties. The site is underused and in poor condition and the justification for this 
proposal is that it will provide both social and regeneration benefits and a brand new 
wheelchair accessible dwelling to the Councils stock.

6.7 It should be noted that the development of the site had been discussed pre-submission 
in March 2020 with Ward and Parish Councillors, the Leader and Lead Member for 
Housing earlier this year and the site was also discussed at the Meopham Parish 
Council Affordable Housing Sub-Committee. 

6.8 In conclusion it is considered that the principle of development here is acceptable 
subject to the dwelling complying with the relevant policies relating to design, amenity, 
parking provision and any other material planning considerations.

The Key Issues

6.9 The key issues to be considered are as follows:

 Design, Character and Appearance;
 Amenity for Future Residents;
 Impact on Surrounding Properties;
 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements;
 Drainage;
 Contaminated Land;
 Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking
 Sustainability; 
 Ecology and Biodiversity; and
 Occupation and Affordability 

Design, Character and Appearance

6.10 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires development to conserve and enhance the character of 
the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well with the surrounding local 
area and meet anti-crime standards. This stance is reflected in chapter 12 (Achieving 
well-designed places) of the NPPF.

6.11 It is worth noting that the scheme that is before this Committee has been the subject of 
pre-application discussions prior to submitting this application in early 2019.

6.12 Policy CS15 (LPCS) seeks to achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare 
for residential development in the urban area, subject to the overriding consideration 
that the scheme is well designed and does not compromise the distinctive character of 
the area. The application site measures 0.0401 hectares and the density of the 
development equates to 24 dwellings per hectare. This is in keeping with the density 
and character of the surrounding area and appropriate for the physical constraints of the 
site.

6.13 Policy CS14 (LPCS) seeks to ensure that new housing development provides a range 
of dwelling types and sizes.  The proposed 1 bed wheelchair accessible dwelling will 
add to the Council’s stock of housing.

6.14 The dwelling would be set behind the existing dwellings. This is demonstrated on the 
below extract from the proposed site plan.

Page 16



6.15 At ground floor there is an entrance hall, open plan living/kitchen area, separate bedroom 
and wet room. At first floor there is a mezzanine and storage area.

6.16 To the side (west facing) of the property an 8.93m deep garden (at its widest) is proposed 
with an area of 33.9m².

6.17 The exterior of the building will comprise red facing bricks and red/brown concrete roof tiles 
thus in character with nearby dwellings, although some of which include white boarding. 

 

Page 17



6.18 In summary the overall design of the scheme is acceptable which complies with local and 
national planning policy and no amendments are considered necessary to the design or 
external appearance of the proposed dwelling.

Amenity for Future Residents

6.19 Policy CS19 (LPCS) seeks to protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living 
conditions are included in the LPCS.  The NPPF also assists and seeks to ensure 
developments will function well, do not undermine quality of life and create attractive and 
comfortable places to live, work and visit and seeks to “secure high quality design and a 
good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings”.

6.20 Internally all of the room sizes meet the Councils residential layout guidelines and the 
overall space standards for a 1 bedroom 2 person dwelling as set out in the nationally 
prescribed space standards.

6.21 Externally 33.9m² of amenity space is provided to the west of the dwelling with direct 
access into the entrance hall. An additional 161m² of amenity space surrounds the south 
and west of the property as hardstanding for parking and turning. This is sufficient private 
amenity space for future occupiers and complies with the council’s residential layout 
guidelines which require 60m² of amenity space.  The garden depth is roughly consistent 
with the 10m depth sought for within SPG 4.

6.22 The location and distance of the existing windows of the surrounding properties will not 
harm the amenity of future occupiers of the proposed dwelling.

6.23 The full details of the hard and soft landscaping will conditioned (This will include boundary 
treatments).

6.24 Subject to the above details being secured by conditions it is considered that overall the 
proposal provides acceptable living conditions for future occupiers and complies with 
Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Impact on Surrounding Properties

6.25 Development should not cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of any existing residents 
or property such that it will materially harm their living conditions. Policy CS19 (LPCS) 
requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and 
sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties and land and paragraph 
127 of the NPPF which requires the amenity of existing residents to be protected.

6.26 To the north of the property is the rear garden of Timberlee in Whitehill Road.  To the east 
of the site is the rear of Nos. 23 and 24 Whitehill Road. To the south of the site is the 
existing access way and the rear of Nos. 20 and 19 Arnold Avenue and to the west is the 
rear garden of No. 19 Arnold Avenue. 

6.27 It is noted that there are two neighbour objections to the development as a result of the 
publicity given to the proposals raising a number of concerns as set out in paragraph 5.2 of 
this report.

6.28 A distance of 21m is maintained between the habitable windows of the proposed dwelling 
and properties to the south which meets the requirements of the Council’s Residential 
Layout Guidelines.

Page 18



6.29 There are no habitable room windows on the north or east facing elevations of the 
proposed dwelling and therefore no loss of privacy or detrimental impact would result on 
the existing dwellings to the north (Timberlee) and east (Nos. 23 and 24 Whitehill Road).

6.30 The proposed dwelling will be at its nearest point approx. 7.5m from the rear elevation and 
rear conservatory of Timberlee which is a chalet bungalow in Whitehill Road to the north.  
Whilst it is acknowledged that the building will be close to the rear garden of that dwelling 
at 1.5 - 2.0m from the garden boundary the height of the dwelling at that point will be 
approx.4.9m.  Under current planning legislation (Article 3 of and Class E of part 1 of 
schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015, as amended) permitted development rights would allow outbuildings in rear 
gardens up to 4m in height with a dual pitched roof so that what is proposed here is not 
significantly greater in terms of its height and impact.  

6.31 At first floor, a window is proposed on the south elevation to serve the mezzanine, however 
this would be approx. 21m from the nearest habitable room windows of the properties to 
the south and therefore it is considered to not result in a detrimental impact in terms of 
overlooking or loss of privacy.

6.32 In summary the proposal would not have a materially adverse impact on the amenity or 
privacy of surrounding properties and there is no conflict with local or national planning 
policy.

Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

6.33 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate appropriate facilities for the 
storage and recycling of waste.

6.34 The submitted plans shows that to the west of the property a bin refuse area is proposed 
which shows space for two wheelie bins and a shelving area for stacking recycling items.

6.35 The applicant has confirmed that due to the nature of the property, it will qualify for hand 
delivery refuse collection, so a collection point closer to Arnold Avenue will not be required.  
Gravesham Waste Management but they have confirmed that they find the waste 
collection scenario is acceptable.

6.36 However, to ensure that bin storage area is acceptable in size to provide storage for 
general waste bin, recycling bin, gardening waste and food caddy details of the refuse 
storage area will be conditioned.

6.37 In summary with regard to refuse arrangements the development complies with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS).

Drainage

6.38 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage and 
surface water run-off. KCC is the Lead Local Flood Authority, but have not provided 
comment on this application.  As KCC have provided comments on similar size 
developments within the borough it is proposed to provide the standard KCC condition on 
sustainable surface water drainage which requires the following:

Page 19



1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council.

2. Details of operation and maintenance of the sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme.

3. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system.
4. Details of infiltration if used to manage flood water.

6.39 In summary subject to a suitable condition there is no conflict with Policy CS18 (LPCS).

Contaminated Land

6.40 Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF require new development to avoid 
adverse environmental impacts of land contamination and remediating contaminated land.

6.41 Due to the existing garage use of the site, there is the potential for contamination.  
Therefore it will be necessary that a contaminated land assessment (in accordance with 
the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 methodology) is conditioned.

6.42 Subject to the recommended condition there is no conflict with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and 
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

6.43 Policy CS11 (LPCS) states that new development should mitigate its impact on the public 
highway and that transport assessments should be provided and implemented to ensure 
delivery of travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Furthermore, it states that 
sufficient car parking in new developments will be provided in accordance with adopted 
standards which will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport accessibility to 
services and facilities. This stance is reflected in the NPPF which states at paragraph 109 
development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
cumulative impact of development are severe. In this instance the nature and scale of the 
development does not require a transport statement or transport assessment.

6.44 The proposal provides one disabled parking space and sufficient turning within the site 
which would conform to both the Gravesham Borough Council’s parking guidance and 
Kent County Council’s guidance and the means of access is satisfactory and has 
reasonable visibility.  Visibility to the right of the access on to Arnold Avenue will be 
improved by reducing the height of vegetation within the garden of 20 Arnold Avenue.  
Theoretically the access has in the past been used more intensively as access for 8 
garages than is now proposed for just one dwelling.

6.45 The GBC Highways Development Management Officer and Environmental Health Officers 
have requested that an electric vehicle charging point be provided and this has been 
accepted by the applicant and will be dealt with by a planning condition.   

6.46 The scheme will accommodate an existing access point from the foot of the rear garden of 
the dwelling at 23 Arnold Avenue which currently exists on to the garage forecourt.

6.47 Kent Fire and Rescue Service were consulted by the applicants in terms of access to the 
dwelling given the distance from the highway and an Imist sprinkler system will be 
installed.

Page 20



6.48 In summary with regard to highways and parking arrangements the development complies 
with Policy CS11 (LPCS), Saved Policies P3 and T1 (LPFR) and SPG 4 - KCC Parking 
Standards (2006).

Sustainability

6.49 The Borough Council through Gravesham Core Strategy Policies CS18 and CS19 requires 
development to achieve an effective and deliverable approach to climate change issues 
including sustainable drainage and surface water run-off; water demand management; 
carbon reduction.

6.50 The ‘green credentials’ of the development are set out in the Design and Access 
Statement. This sets out the proposals in respect of sustainable drainage, water demand 
management and carbon reduction among other things to fully meet Building Regulations 
including:

• High levels of wall, floor and roof insulation in excess of current building regulations 
standards. 
• High air tightness of the building envelope to less than 7m³/hm³@50pa to ensure heat 
loss through air leakage is minimised. 
• High specification glazed windows to reduce heat loss. 
• High efficiency condensing gas fired combination boiler. 
• Heat recovery extract/input ventilation system to avoid heat loss through extract 
ventilation. 
• Recycling, local in-house storage and recycling facilities for metal, paper, glass and food 
waste. 
• Water usage – low water, usage fittings will be used throughout to reduce water demand.  
Water butts will be used to collect rainwater.

6.51 The applicant advises that current standards require the building envelope to exceed Part 
L of the Building Regulations by 30% however, with the Councils climate emergency 
declaration; they are exploring ways of further reducing our carbon footprint whilst 
improving building performance. Subsequently, tenderers are now invited to provide 
detailed proposals along with a cost breakdown for alternative space and hot water heating 
and enhanced building fabric.

6.52 The development and therefore accords with Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
Policies CS18 and CS19 and the NPPF.

Ecology and Biodiversity

6.53 Policy CS12 (Green Infrastructure) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
indicates that there will be no net loss of biodiversity in the Borough, and opportunities 
to enhance, restore, re-create and maintain habitats will be sought, in particular within 
the Biodiversity Opportunity Areas shown on the Strategic Green Infrastructure Network 
map and within new development, and that where a negative impact on protected or 
priority habitats/species cannot be avoided on development sites and where the 
importance of the development is considered to outweigh the biodiversity impact, 
compensatory provision will be required either elsewhere on the site or off-site, 
including measures for on-going maintenance.  This is reinforced at national level in the 
NPPF (Paragraphs 170 and 175).

Page 21



6.54 The proposal seeks to redevelop a brownfield site which currently has minimal soft 
landscaping.  The proposal includes the provision of an adequate soft landscaped garden 
space, and as such the a biodiversity net gain is unlikely to be provided, though the 
delivery of much needed family housing, combined with the limited constraints of the site, 
are considered to not cause this impact to warrant the refusal of planning permission.  A 
good level of soft landscaping and planting shall be delivered by condition, in any case.

Financial Considerations 

6.55 In terms of other financial benefits, it is noted that these will accrue to the area as and 
when permissions are granted. The Government wishes to ensure that the decision making 
process for planning applications is a transparent as possible, so that local communities 
are more aware of the financial benefits that development can bring to their area. In this 
instance the proposed new residential units would generate the New Homes Bonus and 
Council Tax receipts. It is anticipated that Business Rate may be accrued form the 
commercial units.

Occupation and Affordability

6.56 It is noted in the Meopham Parish Council comments that they hope that this proposed 
new wheelchair adapted bungalow will be allocated to a local (Meopham) resident to 
enable them to downsize and/or live in more suitable accommodation without having to 
leave the area.

6.57 The applicant advises:

This will not apply to this dwelling as the rural nomination criteria only applies to dwellings 
delivered on Rural Exception Sites.  Therefore all eligible applicants from the Council’s 
housing register will be able to bid for the dwelling. 

The dwelling will however be affordable in perpetuity and it may be that we will need to 
provide clarification on this via a planning condition as we have on other GBC schemes. 
Affordability will be assessed to determine whether an Affordable or Social Rent is applied 
and if necessary capped at the Local Housing Allowance rate.

The property will be built to M4 (2) standards - wheelchair accessible and adaptable and 
we will ensure that Housing designate the dwelling for the use of older and/or disabled 
households and will therefore be exempt from the Right to Buy.

7 Conclusions and Balancing Exercise

7.1 The proposal is a sustainable form of development that accords with national and local   
policy planning policy and will provide an acceptable scheme within the rural settlement of 
Meopham.

7.2 The design is considered to be appropriate for the site and location.

7.3 There will be no adverse impact on the surrounding highway network and all consultee and 
neighbour concerns have been considered and where possible addressed.

Page 22



7.4 The development would deliver good quality specialist additional housing onto an 
underused brownfield site, without any significant harmful impacts on the surrounding 
properties.

7.5 The applicant’s agent has agreed to all the pre-commencement conditions as set out in this 
report and on balance permission is recommended subject to conditions.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

RECOMMENDATION

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED Planning Permission, subject to the 
following conditions, reason and informatives

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

Time Limit

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended 
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with the 
following schedule of approved plans:

Planning Application Form;
Design and Access Statement;
Drawing No. 18867-AA-SK-00 Rev C – Site Location Plan;
Drawing No. 18867-AA-SK-01 Rev P – Proposed Site Plan;
Drawing No. 18867-AA-SK-E-01 Rev A – Existing Site Plan;
Drawing No. 18867-AA-SK-02 Rev F – Proposed Floor Plans; and
Drawing No. 18867-AA-SK-03 Rev F – Proposed Elevations.

Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Pre-Commencement Conditions 

Contaminated Land

3. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a contaminated 
land assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 methodology) and if 
necessary an associated remedial strategy, together with a timetable of works, being 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

Page 23



a)  A site investigation, based on the findings of the submitted Preliminary Investigation Report 
(Soils Limited, June 2019), shall be carried out by a suitably qualified and accredited 
consultant/contractor in accordance with a Quality Assured sampling and analysis 
methodology.

b)  A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site, together 
with the results of analysis, risk assessment to any receptors and a proposed remediation 
strategy shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  The Local Planning Authority shall 
approve such remedial works as required prior to any remediation commencing on site.  The 
works shall be of such a nature so as to render harmless the identified contamination given the 
proposed end-use of the site and surrounding environment including any controlled waters.

c) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a quality assurance 
scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed methodology and best practice 
guidance).  If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously been 
identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate 
remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

d)  Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be discharged until a closure report 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure report shall 
include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance certificates to 
show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the approved 
methodology.  Details of any post remediation sampling and analysis to show the site has 
reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the closure report together with the 
necessary documentation detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.

e)  Where applicable, a monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-
term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over an agreed period of time, and the 
provision of reports on the same, must be prepared and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.

Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme, and when the remediation 
objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring 
and maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable 
risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with paragraph 170 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Code of Construction Practice

4. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a comprehensive 
Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts of this development is 
provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority.  The 
approved scheme shall include details of hours of work during the construction period, delivery 
times for materials, parking of vehicles of site personnel and visitors, loading and unloading of 
plant and materials, storage of materials and wheel washing proposals; the development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Code of Construction 
Practice.

Reason: To ensure the free flow of traffic on the highway and to minimise the impact on 
residential amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

Page 24



Sustainable Surface Water Drainage

5. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for 
sustainable surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The detailed drainage scheme submitted shall 

(i) demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-development will 
be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to and including the climate 
change adjusted 100yr critical storm)

(ii) demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-routes and accumulation points will 
not be altered in such a way that the development places property at risk from flooding during 
any rainfall event, up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100yr storm,

(iii) demonstrate that infiltration features are not located on parts of the site where 
contamination might be present 

(iii)  include a timetable for its implementation, and

(iv) include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which 
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout its 
lifetime. 

The surface water drainage scheme shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to first 
residential occupation of the development and thereafter maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this 
proposal; to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure on-going efficacy of the drainage provisions, in accordance with 
policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

Prior to above Ground Works

Materials

6. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and application form before  any 
above ground works commence, additional details (and samples where requested by the Local 
Planning Authority) of all the external facing materials to be used in the construction of the 
development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a 
satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and new development in accordance with 
adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Prior to Occupation

Page 25



Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The landscaping works shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the completion of the development 
or the first occupation of the residential unit whichever is sooner.  The scheme shall include: 

 proposed boundary treatments, 

 proposed finished levels and contours, 

 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other supporting 
structures

Reason: To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and to 
ensure a satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in accordance with Policy 
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Soft Landscaping Scheme 

8. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme detailing the proposed soft landscaping shall 
be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include the type and species of planting to be carried out, to include their quantity and size as 
well as arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft landscaping scheme shall be 
carried out in full during the first available planting season following first occupation of the 
dwelling. Any trees or plants that die, are damaged, removed or become diseased within five 
years from the date that the development is first brought into use shall be replaced with a 
species of a similar size and species during the next available planting season. 

Reason: To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests of the 
visual amenity of the development, in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Refuse Arrangements

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding details 
on the approved plans details of the refuse arrangements shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted details shall ensure adequate 
provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste and security 
arrangements for the refuse stores. The approved refuse arrangements shall be provided prior 
to first occupation of the dwelling and thereafter be retained for such purposes at all times. 

Reason: In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area in the 
interest of amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

External Lighting

 10. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of all proposed 
external lighting shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 

Page 26



Authority.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with these approved 
details.

Reason: In order to ensure the development does not cause harm to residential amenity by 
reason of the installation of intrusive lighting and in accordance Policy CS19 Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Electric Vehicle Charging Point

 11. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details for provision of 
cabling to enable charging facilities to be installed for an electric vehicle for the future 
occupants of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved to which the cabling 
applies.

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable modes of 
transport, and in accordance with Policy CS11, CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Permitted Development Rights (Extensions, Dormers, Outbuildings)

12. No development under the provisions of Article 3 of and Classes A, B and E of Part 1 of 
Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 
as amended (or any provision equivalent to those Classes in any Statutory Instrument 
replacing, revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) shall be carried out 
on the dwelling or within the curtilage of the site unless a specific grant of planning permission 
has been given by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development of the 
site and in the interests of local amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Affordable Housing

13. The residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a scheme for the provision of 
affordable housing has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The affordable housing shall then be provided and occupied in accordance with the 
approved scheme and retained thereafter and the provision shall meet the definition of 
affordable housing set out in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) or 
any future guidance that replaces it.  

The scheme shall include: 

(i) The type and tenure of the affordable housing provision to be made, 
(ii) The occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the affordable 
housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be enforced. 

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development of the 
site in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Page 27



INFORMATIVES:-

1 REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS

2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION- TAKING

3 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

4 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

5 NAMING AND NUMBERING

6 DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS

Page 28



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT

Application Ref: 20200670

Site Address: 135 Sun Lane, Gravesend, Kent DA12 5HW.

Application 
Description:

Demolition of garage, erection of a single storey rear extension, 
construction of dormer extensions in the front and rear roof slopes 
with alterations to the roof and conversion of the roof space into 
habitable rooms.

Applicant: Mrs Diane Marsh

Agent: Mr Harry Bailey

Ward: Whitehall Ward

Parish: N/A

Decision Due Date: 2nd  October  2020

Publicity Expiry Date: 5th August  2020 

Decision Level: Planning Committee - 30th September 2020

Reason for referral: Councillor Mrs Diane Marsh is the applicant

Recommendation: PERMISSION subject to conditions

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

The proposal is for the demolition of a garage, the erection of a single storey rear extension, 
construction of dormer extensions in the front and rear roof slopes with alterations to the roof and 
conversion of the roof space into habitable rooms.

The design of extensions and roof alterations are considered to be acceptable and the proposal 
will not have an adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding properties.

As the development would not result in any harmful impacts in the street scene or on local 
residential amenity it is considered to be in compliance with local and national planning policy and 
subject to the planning conditions as set out in this report permission is recommended.

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 The application site comprises a three bedroom detached bungalow and has a 
detached garage to the rear with access from the west side of the dwelling. 

1.2 The bungalow is twin bay fronted and is of brick construction with a hipped plain tiled 
roof with windows and side entrance door in the flank elevations, built in the late 
1940’s.  There is a low rendered and brick wall to the frontage.

Page 29 Agenda Item 5b



1.3 Sun Lane has a variety of building ages and types with no unique design form. There 
is a modern detached part two storey and part chalet style dwelling to the east side of 
the bungalow (137 Sun Lane) built in the late 1980’s and an older terrace of two 
storey dwellings to the west (127-133 Sun Lane) dating from the 1890’s.  The 
property faces on to two storey flats and towards Pegasus Court on the south side of 
Sun Lane. The rear garden of 135 Sun Lane adjoins the rear gardens of existing 
dwellings in Whitehill Road. 

1.4 The existing garage in the rear garden of the dwelling has already been demolished 
as it was observed during a case officer visit on Friday 4th September 2020.

1.5 The application site is located in an urban area of Gravesend. Sun Lane is not a 
classified highway but part of Sun Lane is on a bus route.

1.6 The application site is shown in the extract from the submitted site plan below.

Page 30



             

2. Planning History 

2.1       The relevant planning history is as follows

19490497 - Private garage. Permitted 04.06.1949

19850521 Outline application for the erection of a two storey detached dwelling with 
attached garage. Refused 05.09.1985

19860365 - Erection of a two storey detached dwelling with attached garage.   
Permitted 18.07.1986

3. Proposal

3.1 The current planning application is for the demolition of garage, erection of a single 
storey rear extension, construction of dormer extensions in the front and rear roof 
slopes with alterations to the roof and conversion of the roof space into habitable 
rooms.

Plans and Drawings

3.2 The application comprises the following details and plans:

Application form date 07.07.2020;
Drawing No N/A – Site Location Plan (Scale 1:200); 
Drawing No N/A – Existing and Proposed Block Plan (Scale 1:200);
Drawing No. 3091/1 – Existing Floor Plan (Scale 1:100);
Drawing No. 3091/2 – Existing Elevation Plans (Scale 1:100); 
Drawing No. 3091/3 – Ground Floor Plan (Scale 1:100);
Drawing No. 3091/4 – First Floor Plan (Scale 1:100);
Drawing No. 3091/5 – Proposed Elevation Plans (Scale 1:100); and 
Drawing No. 3091/6 – Existing and Proposed Roof Plans (Scale 1:100).

Page 31



Details of the Development 

3.3 The details of the development are described in some detail in section 6 of this 
report.  In summary the application proposals are for demolition of the existing rear 
garden garage, a 2m deep rear single storey flat roofed extension, a change in the 
roof form and height altering the roof from a hipped roof front and rear to a gable roof 
with side half hips increasing the ridge height by 0.55m.

3.4 The various proposed elements are shown below in the extract from the submitted 
proposed block plan.

              

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
planning applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are other material 
considerations, the development plan should be the starting point, and other 
material considerations should be taken into account in reaching a decision.  One 
such consideration will be whether the plan policies are relevant and up to date.

4.2 The Development Plan for Gravesham comprises:-

• The Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
• Remaining Saved Policies of the Local Plan First Review (1994)
• Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 (July 2016)

Local Planning Guidance

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014

4.3 The Core Strategy sets out the Council's spatial vision and strategic objectives for 
the Borough to 2028 and the policies which will deliver them. It identifies the main 

Page 32



areas where major change is likely to take place and allocates sites which are key 
to achieving the strategy.

4.4 The development site is shown as being within the urban area in the Gravesham 
Local Plan Policies Map.  

4.5 The most relevant policies from the adopted Core Strategy in relation to this 
development are as follows:

 CS01 – Sustainable Development 
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS11 – Transport 
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles

Policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) sets out detailed criteria against 
which the acceptability or otherwise of proposed development will be evaluated.  In 
particular it requires new development to be visually attractive, fit for purpose and 
locally distinctive.  It should conserve and enhance the character of the local built and 
natural environment and integrate well with the surrounding area.  It requires new 
development to safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its 
occupants and those of neighbouring properties and land and avoid adverse 
environmental impacts from pollution. Proposals should include details of appropriate 
hard and soft landscaping, protect and where opportunities arise enhance 
biodiversity and provide appropriate facilities for the storage and disposal of waste.

Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994

4.6 The Gravesham Local Plan First Review was originally adopted in November 
1994.

4.7 A substantial number of policies of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review were 
saved by a Direction dated 25 September 2007 of the Secretary of State under 
paragraph 1 (3) of Schedule 8 to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
as transitional arrangements pending adoption of the Core Strategy.

4.8 Those Local Plan First Review policies that remain in force are listed in Appendix 
1 of the Local Plan Core Strategy.  The remaining saved policies will be replaced 
following the adoption of the Site Allocations and Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document.

4.9 The following remaining saved policies are relevant to the consideration of this 
application:

• Policy P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

Policy P3 requires development to make provision for vehicle parking, in accordance 
with the Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards, as interpreted by 
Gravesham Borough Council, unless justified as an exception. All vehicle parking 
provision should normally be made on the development site.

Page 33



Review of Local Plan 

4.10 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2019) sets out those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five 
years, and should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal 
requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) England Regulations 2012.

4.11 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and The review found that 
the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy 
CS02 due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was 
adopted and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. 
Whilst saved policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) general conform with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), the Council will also seek to replace 
these.

4.12 In addition, the Council published in 2018 a Regulation 18 (stage 1) consultation on 
its proposed Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD, which will 
in due course form part of and update the Gravesham Local Plan.  Under paragraph 
48 of the NPPF, policies in this document may be accorded weight in the decision 
making process with this varying according to its stage of preparation; the extent to 
which there are unresolved objections; and the degree of consistency of policy with 
those in the Framework. As the Site Allocations and Development Management 
Policies DPD is at a very early stage and the fact that the consultation is still on-
going, the policies therein should at this stage be given very limited weight.  It should 
be noted, in any event, that many of the relevant policies reflect those set out in the 
Framework and for the purposes of this application these should be relied on instead.

Other Material Considerations 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.13 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), June 2019, is a material 
consideration. The following sections are relevant.

 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development;
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

4.14 Planning Practice Guidance (http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/) supports 
and clarifies areas in the NPPF.

Supplementary Planning Guidance and other Documents
     
4.15 The Council has adopted a number of Supplementary Planning Guidance 

documents, Development Briefs and Conservation Area Appraisals.  These elaborate 
on saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review and policies in the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and are material considerations in determining 
planning applications.  

4.16 In addition the Council has adopted a number of documents that have been produced 
by Kent County Council also as Supplementary Guidance.

4.17 The following documents are relevant to the consideration of this application:

Page 34

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/


• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015; and
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards (2015).

5. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Consultations

5.1 The following consultations responses have been received

GBC Highways Development Management Officer    

This proposal gives concern. The number of bedrooms increases from 3 to 4 and 
potentially removes the car parking from the site. The drive is shown as some 2.7 
metres wide, which is insufficient to give reasonable access to a parked vehicle. The 
extract below from SPG4  in note 2 shows a standard parking space is increased 
from 2.5 metres to 2.7metres when it is enclosed on a single side, by extension when 
the parking spaces is enclosed on both sides it should be further increased to 2.9 
metres. This means the drive is not considered as adequate as a parking area.   

         

However, there appears to be sufficient space in the rear garden to accommodate 2 
car parking spaces, (Kent County Council Interim Guidance Note 3, Residential 
Parking). So providing it is conditioned that a parking plan is submitted I have no 
objections. The applicant will need to be advised that parking adjacent to the property 
will not be acceptable.

It is also recommended that at least one electric vehicle charging point is provided 
which has a continuous supply of a minimum 32 ampere, more under surge demand. 
The applicant should seek appropriate guidance from a suitably qualified person.

Page 35



Ward Councillors

No comments received

Publicity and Neighbour Representations 

5.2 Individual notification was sent to the owners/occupiers of 10 adjoining 
dwellings/premises and other interested parties.  The publicity period expired on 05 
August 2020. 

5.3 One neighbour representation has been received objecting and raising concerns 
on the following grounds:

The rear of application site is close to their rear garden boundary and believes that 
the second storey dormer extension is within 7m of this boundary and that of 
neighbouring properties.

6. Planning Analysis and Development Manager Comments

Principle of the Development

6.1 Policy CS01 (Sustainable Development) indicates that when considering 
development proposals the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning 
Policy Framework and in the Core Strategy.

6.2 The application site is situated in an urban area.  Policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution 
of Development) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 indicates that the 
strategy prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location for 
development.

6.3 There are therefore no policy objections to the principle of development on this site 
subject to the proposal complying with the relevant policies relating to design, 
heritage, amenity, parking provision and any other material planning considerations.

The Key Issues

6.4 The key issues to be considered are as follows:

• Design, Character and appearance;
• Amenity for future residents;
• Impact on surrounding properties; and
• Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking.

Design, Character and Appearance 

6.5 CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) requires development to 
conserve and enhance the character of the local built, historic and natural 
environment, integrate well with the surrounding local area and meet anti-crime 
standards. This stance is reflected in chapter 12 (Achieving well-designed places) of 
the NPPF (2019.

6.6 There are four elements of this application to consider and the first is the alteration to 
the roof. The roof is currently of a hipped design and the proposal is to alter the 

Page 36



hipped roof to half hipped barn ends. The ridge height of the existing roof is being 
increased by half metre and the roof space is being substantially increased.  The 
alteration will have a very minimal impact on the existing profile of the street scene. 
Whilst the proposed roof alterations are a significant change to the original dwelling, 
the surrounding properties are not of a uniform design and as such the proposed roof 
design will not look significantly out of place. There are no design concerns with the 
alteration of the roof from a hipped roof to half barn ends.

6.7 The second element of the application to consider is the construction of a dormer in 
the rear roof slope. It is quite a considerable dormer at 8.82 metres long. That being 
said, it is designed with a modest approach. The dormer has been set in at both 
sides by half metre and also by one metre from the top of the ridge line.  This is 
effective in reducing the bulk of a large dormer. It helps that the bungalow is 
detached and there is no issue of the dormer creating unsymmetrical properties. To 
the rear facing the rear garden the dormer will have a Juliet balcony and two 
standard windows. There are no side facing windows. The rear dormer sits well on 
the rear roof slope and is only 41.75 m³. It would not be visible from any public 
vantage points. White the dormer is quite considerable, it is not detrimental to the 
dwelling or the street or the street scene.

    Existing Rear Elevation                          

                    

   Proposed Rear Elevation

6.8 The third element of the application to consider is the construction of a dormer in the 
front roof slope. It is 7.69 metres long. The dormer has been set in at both sides by 
one metre and also by one metre from the top of the ridge line. The proposed front 
dormer is small in scale compared to the proposed rear dormer and is only 15.88 m³. 
The front dormer will be set 2.24 metres from the edge of the eaves of the original 
roof. Once again the proposed front dormer is a significant change to the original 

Page 37



dwelling but the street scene is made of properties with various designs and styles, 
and therefore it will not look significantly out of place.  

Existing Front Elevation 

            

Proposed Front Elevation 

        

6.9 The fourth and final element to the application to consider is the demolition of the 
existing rear garage and the construction of a single storey rear extension. It is noted 
that it is observed during a case officer site visit undertaken that the garage to the 
rear has already been demolished. The proposed single storey rear extension would 
have a depth of only 2 metres, a width of 9.21 metres and the maximum height of 3 
metres. It is noted that the proposed single storey rear extension can be built under 
Permitted Development rights. It is considered acceptable in terms of design.

     

6.10 In summary the overall design of the scheme is acceptable and complies with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS) and Section 12 of the NPPF (2019).

Page 38



Amenity for future residents

6.11 Policy CS19 (LPCS) seeks to protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living 
conditions are acceptable within proposed developments.  The NPPF (2019) also 
assists and seeks to ensure developments will function well, does not undermine 
quality of life and create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit and 
seeks to “secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing 
and future occupants of land and buildings”.

6.12 The proposal would form on the first floor two bedrooms respectively 13.17 m² and 
17.3 m², an Ensuite bedroom 14.74 m² and Ensuite bathroom 5.04 m², a bathroom 
5.32 m². On the Ground Floor a kitchen 24.97 m², a lounge 24.24 m², a dining room 
12.19 m², a bedroom 10.92 m² and a downstairs bathroom 5.33 m².  All rooms 
comply with the nationally described space standards (2015).

6.13 The dwelling would retain a rear garden with a depth between 7 metres to 15 metres 
and an area 239.19 sq. m which comply with SPG 2 - Residential Layout Guidelines 
(1996) for a four bedroom dwelling.

               

6.14 It is considered that overall the proposal provides acceptable living conditions for 
future occupiers and complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Impact on surrounding properties

6.15 Development should not cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of any existing 
residents or property such that it will materially harm their living conditions. Policy 
CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including privacy, 
daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties and land 

Page 39



and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019) which requires the amenity of existing 
residents to be protected.

6.16 One concern is the increase in the height of the side section of the roof on the 
neighbouring dwellings. No 137 Sun Lane is the property on the east side of the 
application site and No 133 Sun Lane is the property on the west side the application. 
Both properties are two storey and no 133 has no side facing windows and it is 
approximately 3.82 metres away from the application site. No 137 has no side facing 
windows that serve habitable rooms. No objections have been received from the 
owner/resident of this property.

6.17 The proposed development will introduce additional windows at first floor on the 
north, south elevations and side facing No 133.  The Juliet balcony and the two 
standard windows would be facing the rear garden of No’s 119, 117, 115 & 113 119 
Whitehill Road and be at least 40 metres away from any habitable rooms. These 
windows will not result in any unacceptable levels of overlooking into the adjacent 
properties private amenity space and the proposal complies with the Council’s 
Residential Layout Guidelines.  

6.18 As a result of this development there will be no material overshadowing; overlooking 
or harm to the amenity of adjacent properties and the proposal complies with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

6.19 The proposal would add additional bedrooms to the property and result in the loss of 
the existing garage at the site, but the application site has to the side facing No 133 
Sun Lane property and rear garden, hardstanding that could accommodate three 
vehicles off road which complies with SPG4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006) for a 
four bedroom dwelling. As such there would be no parking and highways issues that 
arise as a result of the proposal.

6.20 It is recommended that the provision of parking to replace the garage demolished in 
the rear garden is secured by a planning condition.  Cabling for electric vehicle 
charging is also recommended by the GBC Highways Development Management 
Officer. 

7. Conclusions and Balancing Exercise 

7.1 The development is acceptable in design terms.  It is not considered that the 
development would be harmful to the street scene in a road which has mix of 
dwellings. 

7.2 There will be no material overshadowing; overlooking or harm to the amenity of 
adjacent properties and the proposal complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).  The development complies with the adopted 
residential layout guidelines.  

7.3 The comments relating to parking from the GBC Highways Development 
Management Officer can be addressed through a planning condition.

7.4 The proposal is a sustainable form of development that accords with local and 
national planning policy and on balance therefore there are no objections to the 
development and planning permission is recommended.

Page 40



________________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED Planning Permission, subject to 
the following conditions, reasons and informatives

CONDITIONS AND REASONS 

Time Limit Condition 

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans and Particulars

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with 
the following approved details, plans and specifications:

Application form date 07.07.2020;
Drawing No N/A – Site Location Plan (Scale 1:200); 
Drawing No N/A – Existing and Proposed Block Plan (Scale 1:200);
Drawing No. 3091/1– Existing Floor Plan (Scale 1:100);
Drawing No. 3091/2– Existing Elevation Plans (Scale 1:100); 
Drawing No. 3091/3– Ground Floor Plan (Scale 1:100);
Drawing No. 3091/4– First Floor Plan (Scale 1:100);
Drawing No. 3091/5– Proposed Elevation Plans (Scale 1:100); and 
Drawing No. 3091/6– Existing and Proposed Roof Plans (Scale 1:100).

and those approved pursuant to any conditions contained herein after and there shall be 
no deviation therefrom. 

Reason: In order to ensure the development is implemented on the basis of the scheme 
as submitted and assessed in the interests of proper planning and in accordance with 
Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

Materials

3. Notwithstanding the details included on the application form and approved plans the 
materials and colours to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension 
hereby permitted shall match the elevations to which the extension is to be added and such 
work shall be completed prior to occupation of the development.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and the new 
development in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Page 41



Obscure Glazing

4. Notwithstanding the details included on the application form and approved plans the 
window serving the landing shall be glazed with obscure glass to a level equivalent to 
Pilkington Level 3 or above (or the nearest equivalent standard) and top hung only and shall 
be permanently retained as such.

Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of adjoining properties and in accordance with 
Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Parking 

5. A parking plan shall be submitted for the approval of the Local Planning Authority showing 
at least 2 vehicle parking spaces within the site for the parking of vehicles for the occupants 
of 135 Sun Lane Gravesend and such spaces shall be formed, surfaced and drained before 
the dwelling as hereby enlarged and extended is first brought into use and thereafter, and 
notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of and Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, as amended, (or 
any provision equivalent to that Part in any Order replacing, revoking or re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification), shall be retained for such purposes at all times.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the site, to avoid indiscriminate car parking 
or to avoid hazards to highway safety by virtue of vehicles parked on the public highway and 
in accordance with the Local Planning Authority's adopted standards and policies including 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11: Transport and Gravesham Local Plan 
First Review saved policy P3.

Electric Vehicle Cabling

6. Provision shall be made for cabling to enable charging facilities to be installed for an 
electric vehicle for the occupants of the development before the dwelling as hereby enlarged 
and extended is first brought into use and shall thereafter be retained for such purposes at 
all times.

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable modes 
of transport, and in accordance with Policy CS11, CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

1. DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS 

Deviation from or amendment to the approved plans could require a further application and 
permission/consent.  In the event that any change is proposed, applicants and builders are 
advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority.  Proceeding without the necessary 
permissions or consents could result in enforcement action.

2. BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

Page 42



This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building 
Regulations or under any other enactment or provision. Nor does it override any private 
rights which any person may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the 
provisions of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.

3. STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION- 
TAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019, the Local Planning Authority has 
approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive and creative 
way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a 
development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development Plan for the area.

The application was considered by the Borough Council’s Regulatory Board (Planning 
Committee) where the applicant/agent had the opportunity to address the committee and 
promote the application.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20200604 - Garage Blocks, Arnold Avenue, Meopham, Gravesend DA13 0NU - Application for the demolition of existing lock up garages and the erection of 1no. one bedroom wheelchair accessible and adaptable chalet bungalow with associated parking - report herewith
	5b 20200670 - 135 Sun Lane, Gravesend, Kent DA12 5HW - Application for the demolition of a garage, erection of a single storey rear extension, construction of dormer extensions in the front and rear roof slopes with alterations to the roof and conversion of the roof space into habitable rooms - report herewith

